The Role of Medication Adherence in the U.S. Healthcare System

June 2013

Prepared by: Shamonda Braithwaite Ilnaz Shirkhorshidian Kelsey Jones Michael Johnsrud



The National Association of Chain Drug Stores (NACDS) provided funding for this research. Avalere Health maintained editorial control and the conclusions expressed here are solely those of the authors.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary
Background
Quantifying the Cost-Effectiveness of Medication Adherence
Assessing the Impact of Medication Adherence (and Non-Adherence) on U.S. Healthcare Spending in General, and for the Chronically III5
Understanding the Barriers to Optimal Medication Adherence
The Impact of Patient Cost Sharing on Adherence8
The Impact of Patient Access to Medications on Adherence10
The Complexity of Treatment Regimens11
Programs and Incentives to Improve Medication Adherence
The Pharmacist's Role in Medication Adherence Interventions12
Commercial Payer Initiatives13
Medicare Star Ratings Adherence Initiatives14
Conclusion
Bibliography

Executive Summary

As healthcare costs continue to rise, policymakers, payers, providers and employers seek ways to contain the growth of expenditures. Improving patient medication utilization is one strategy that has been shown to be effective.

When patients struggle to obtain and use medications appropriately, they may limit a drug's effectiveness, experience poor health outcomes as a result, and raise the overall cost of care in the United States. For example, recent research has shown that 1) taking drugs as prescribed lowers total healthcare costs by an amount that exceeds the costs of the drugs themselves (Roebuck et al. 2011), and 2) lower spending on prescription drugs may be offset by higher medical services costs (Gaynor et al. 2007).

As the prevalence of chronic diseases grows because of an expanding elderly population, ensuring that patients take their medications will be increasingly important. This document summarizes a review of the literature where we explore the research published to date on the connection between medication adherence, health outcomes, and healthcare system spending. In particular, the evidence largely shows that patients who are adherent to their medications have more favorable health outcomes such as reduced mortality and use fewer healthcare services (especially hospital readmissions and ER visits). Such patients are thus cheaper to treat overall, relative to non-adherent patients. We also review the major barriers linked to poor medication adherence including cost, access, and complexity of the medication regimen. Finally, we identify several notable examples of intervention programs that are designed to improve adherence among various patient populations, including the privately insured and Medicare beneficiaries.

To improve patient outcomes and reduce the financial burden on the healthcare system, policymakers and other healthcare stakeholders should support measures that encourage greater engagement and education with patients to demonstrate the importance of proper medication use.

Background

The United States' population is aging, as the proportion of older adults grows rapidly. In 2000, people aged 65 and older represented 12.4 percent of the population. By 2030, this segment is expected to grow to 19 percent (HHS AOA 2013). These changing demographics have implications for the U.S. healthcare system, as evidenced by the first baby boomers becoming eligible for Medicare in 2011.

Elderly people are more likely to be diagnosed with certain chronic conditions such as heart disease, cancer, diabetes, respiratory disease and Alzheimer's disease. Among all Americans, almost 45 percent, or approximately 133 million people, live with at least one chronic disease, and these numbers are growing quickly (Wu and Green 2000; CDC 2012). Chronic diseases account for 70 percent of all deaths in the United States, or 1.7 million each year (CDC 2003; CDC 2012).

Medication is often the first choice for medical intervention of chronic disease. As the population continues to age and the prevalence of chronic diseases grows, ensuring that patients take their medications as prescribed will be an increasingly important aspect to effective treatment. Adherence has been defined as the "active, voluntary, and collaborative involvement of the patient in a mutually acceptable course of behavior to produce a therapeutic result" (Delamater 2006; Meichenbaum and Turk 1987). The lack of adherence to prescribed therapies is termed "medication non-adherence."

Existing literature has already demonstrated that people currently have problems adhering to their medication regimens. Researchers have estimated that 81 percent of adults aged 65 and older take one or more prescription drugs a day, and 29 percent take five or more medications on a regular basis (Qato et al. 2008). However, approximately one-half of patients in the United States do not take their medications as prescribed (Sabate 2003).

Furthermore, a recent study conducted within a pharmacy benefit plan found that, when asked, almost all patients overestimated their perceived level of medication adherence when survey results were compared to actual records of prescription dispensing. For example, among patients whose actual level of adherence to medication was less than 25 percent, the average level that the patients reported, when asked, was more than 90 percent (Express Scripts 2012).

Researchers have also quantified the extent of non-adherence among patient groups with certain medical conditions. For example, research indicates that only 51 percent of hypertension patients adhere to their prescribed drug treatment regimens (Sabate 2003). In a literature review of several studies focusing on patients with prescriptions for antidepressants, researchers concluded that about half prematurely discontinued therapy within six months of initiation (Sansone and Sansone 2012).

The prevalence of medication non-adherence across various patient types has negative implications for health outcomes. For example, non-adherent diabetes and heart disease patients were estimated to have significantly higher unadjusted mortality rates (12.1 percent higher) than a comparative group of patients who were adherent (6.7 percent) (Ho et al. 2006). Further, among hypertension patients, an estimated 86,000 premature deaths per year could potentially be avoided with appropriate and optimally used medication treatment (Cutler et al. 2007).

Poor adherence also translates into increased use of expensive components of healthcare, such as hospitalizations, which are more costly and time consuming than the services related to the management of the original condition (e.g., primary or specialty care visits, use of prescribed drugs, etc.) at an earlier point in the care continuum. In fact, non-adherence is related to more than one-third of medication-related hospitalizations (PhRMA 2012). Furthermore, non-adherence has also been associated with as much as 40 percent of nursing home admissions (APhA 2004).

Many studies have focused on the impact of poor medication adherence on the healthcare utilization patterns of chronically ill populations. For example, one study showed that diabetes patients with the poorest medication adherence have a 30 percent yearly risk of hospitalization, as opposed to a 13 percent risk for diabetes patients with high adherence (Sokol et al. 2005). A meta-analysis assessing the results of numerous studies found that relative to patients with high levels of adherence, the risk of poor clinical outcomes—including hospitalization, rehospitalization, and premature death—among non-adherent patients is 5.4 times as high among those with hypertension, 2.8 times as high among those with dyslipidemia, and 1.5 times as high among those with heart disease (Gwadry-Sridhar et al. 2009). Another study found that patients who do not adhere to their high cholesterol medications have a 26 percent greater likelihood of a cardiovascular-related hospitalization, as compared to patients who adhere to their drug regimens (Pittman et al. 2011).

In summary, when a patient does not adhere to their medications, their health may decline further, requiring utilization of more expensive services such as those found in the acute or long-term care system. This relationship between non-adherence and utilization of expensive services has been often studied and reported in the literature. In addition, many studies in the literature have quantified the cost-effectiveness of appropriate medication adherence.

Quantifying the Cost-Effectiveness of Medication Adherence

One of the most direct ways to study the cost-effectiveness of medicines is to compare total healthcare costs and utilization for patient populations who are using prescription drugs appropriately versus those who are not. Researchers have found relationships between taking medications as prescribed and lower healthcare costs, as well as the converse relationship of not taking medications as prescribed and steeper healthcare costs.

Assessing the Impact of Medication Adherence (and Non-Adherence) on U.S. Healthcare Spending in General, and for the Chronically III

The cost-related benefits of proper medication adherence for the U.S. healthcare system are significant. In a study that used a sample of Medicare beneficiaries drawn from the 1999 and 2000 Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey, researchers found that use of prescription medicines significantly reduced Medicare spending for inpatient hospitalizations (Stuart et al. 2009). Specifically, for each additional prescription drug filled, hospital costs decreased by \$104, or approximately 5 percent of the mean total of Medicare payments in 2000 for study subjects' inpatient hospital services (Stuart et al. 2009).

In another study, researchers estimated that of all medication-related hospital admissions in the United States, 33 to 69 percent were due to poor medication adherence, with a resultant cost of approximately \$100 billion a year (Osterberg and Blaschke 2005). More recently, a report published by the New England Healthcare Institute (NEHI) estimated that \$290 billion in avoidable medical spending across all chronic diseases could be attributed to drug-related problems, of which non-adherence to medications was a subset (NEHI 2009).

The literature has reported an even wider range of cost offsets for patients demonstrating adherence to medications across particular chronic conditions. Studies have shown that for every \$1.00 increase in costs related to prescription drug spending for adherent patients, medical cost decreases by more than \$1.00. The magnitude of the decrease varies depending on a patient's condition. Specifically, for every additional dollar spent on medicines for adherent patients:

- Roebuck et al. estimated medical cost offsets of \$10.10 for hypertension, \$8.40 for congestive heart failure, \$6.70 for diabetes and \$3.10 for dyslipidemia (Roebuck et al. 2011), and
- Sokol et al. estimated a reduction in total healthcare costs by \$7.00 for diabetes patients, \$5.00 for high cholesterol patients and \$4.00 for high blood pressure patients (Sokol et al. 2005).

In a study of Medicaid patients with congestive heart failure, patients who were adherent to medications had fewer hospitalizations, lower incidence of ER visits and had overall costs that were 23 percent lower than non-adherent patients (Esposito et al. 2009).

Notably, there is a body of studies that investigated the relationship between medication adherence and chronic disease expenditures which focuses on diabetes patients. For example, a study of Medicare patients found that for every 10 percent increase in adherence to diabetes medication, total healthcare costs declined between 9 and 29 percent (Balkrishnan et al. 2003). A subsequent study of Medicare patients diagnosed with diabetes found that patients who were adherent to cardiovascular drugs as part of their treatment therapy had lower total healthcare costs within the Medicare system over three years, with savings from medical costs outweighing additional costs from greater prescription drug use (Stuart et al. 2011).

Additionally, in a recent study of a national sample of diabetes patients, researchers compared outcomes in 2008 between people who increased their medication adherence levels between 2006 and 2007 (i.e., were non-adherent in 2006 and adherent in 2007) to those who remained non-adherent during this time. They found that patients who increased adherence to their diabetes medications were 13 percent less likely to be hospitalized or visit the ER relative to those who remained non-adherent (Jha et al. 2012). They also compared outcomes between people who decreased their adherence during this time to patients that remained adherent. For patients with lower adherence, they calculated a 15 percent higher likelihood of hospitalization or visiting the ER relative to patients who remained adherent. Due to these utilization impacts, the authors estimated that measures designed to increase adherence could generate potential healthcare savings of \$8.3 billion (Jha et al. 2012).

Figure 1 illustrates results comparing the relationship between healthcare costs and varying levels of medication adherence among diabetics. In this example, the total annual healthcare spending level for diabetes patients with the lowest medication adherence (\$8,867) was almost twice as much as for those with high levels of adherence (\$4,570) (Sokol et al. 2005). It is important to note that with higher levels of adherence, total drug expenditures are higher; however, overall costs of care remained lower when compared to patients with poor adherence.



Figure 1. Healthcare Costs at Varying Levels of Medication Adherence

Focusing on medication adherence among individuals with chronic conditions is essential because by targeting this group of patients for improved adherence, it will likely result in better cost-effectiveness of healthcare utilization and delivery.

The body of evidence on the cost-effectiveness of medication adherence has begun to influence policy. For example, the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) recently released the legislative scoring methodology it uses to estimate medical offsets related to improved medication use. Based upon this methodology, the CBO associates a one-fifth of a percent reduction in Medicare's medical service spending for every 1 percent increase in the number of prescriptions filled (CBO 2012). This is the first time the government's non-partisan legislative scoring agency has credited greater usage of medications with saving healthcare costs, generally, as part of their guidance.

Before the healthcare system can realize the full potential of cost savings related to higher medication adherence, it is important for stakeholders to understand the issues that prevent some patients from using the medications they are prescribed. In the next section, we will discuss the most common barriers to medication adherence.

Source: Sokol et al. Impact of Medication Adherence on Hospitalization Risk and Healthcare Cost. Medical Care. 2005; 43 (6): 521–30.

Understanding the Barriers to Optimal Medication Adherence

In 2003, the World Health Organization (WHO) identified medication non-adherence as the leading cause of preventable morbidity, mortality and healthcare costs (Sabate 2003). Sources of non-adherence, such as cost and access issues, patient forgetfulness or misunderstanding, represent the barriers patients face to achieving appropriate adherence. The relationship between patient prescription cost sharing and access issues as they relate to medication adherence have been studied and reported in the literature. In addition, research has investigated the degree to which forgetting or misunderstanding a regimen relates to the level of complexity involved in taking their medications. The following describes findings from research about how patient cost sharing, access and regimen complexity can affect medication adherence.

The Impact of Patient Cost Sharing on Adherence

Cost-control measures implemented by payers and health systems can have the unintended effect of deterring adherence. For instance, healthcare systems can inadvertently create barriers to adherence by requiring prohibitively high out-of-pocket costs in the form of copayments or co-insurance for medications (D'Amato 2008).

Many researchers have found that raising medication copayments reduces patient adherence and increases utilization of hospital inpatient and outpatient services.

- Specifically, when medication copayments doubled for a population of privately insured patients, the use of prescription drugs in the most common therapeutic classes declined, ranging from a 45 percent reduction in use for NSAIDs, to a 26 percent decline for antihypertensives and antidepressants. Further, among patients with chronic conditions who were receiving routine care, drug use declined between 8 and 23 percent in reaction to the doubling of copayments. Among patients with diabetes, asthma or gastric acid disorder, emergency room visits climbed by 17 percent, and hospital stays rose by 10 percent (Goldman et al. 2004).
- A follow-up study demonstrated that for patients with certain chronic conditions, such as diabetes, lipid disorders and congestive heart failure, higher prescription cost sharing was associated with more use of expensive medical services. Furthermore, for every 10 percent increase in cost sharing, researchers found a 2 to 6 percent decrease in prescription drug spending, depending on the therapeutic class of the medication (Goldman et al. 2007).
- Increases in patient copayments for prescription medications resulted in decreased utilization of medications, while simultaneously increasing the use of outpatient medical care (Gaynor et al. 2007).

- For seniors identified as having multiple chronic conditions, estimated hospital spending increased by almost \$2.00 for every \$1.00 in estimated savings realized on prescription drugs and office visits as a result of higher prescription copayments levied on patients (Chandra et al. 2010).
- In a study that investigated the degree to which cancer patients abandon oral oncology therapy at the pharmacy, researchers found that abandonment rates rose more than four-fold when out-of-pocket costs exceeded \$500, compared to out-of-pocket costs of \$100 or less (Streeter et al. 2011).

Further, when Medicare patients were subjected to a prescription drug expenditure cap, beneficiaries were less likely to adhere to their hypertension, diabetes, and cholesterol medicines. Compared to seniors with uncapped prescription coverage, seniors with a \$1,000 annual benefit cap under a Medicare+Choice plan were less likely to use medicines appropriately and experienced unfavorable clinical outcomes. Specifically, mortality rates were 22 percent higher for this group compared to Medicare patients without a prescription cap, controlling for health status (Hsu et al. 2006).

Reducing potential cost-sharing barriers for patients has been shown to have positive results. Employer groups who have eliminated or reduced copayments for insulin and all oral diabetes medicines have seen significant gains in medication adherence among employees. Relative to employees whose copayments for diabetes medicines did not change, those whose copayments were waived or reduced were more likely to fill new prescriptions and more likely to continue their treatment (Chang et al. 2010). An employer implementing a disease management program in two groups of employees found that when the disease management program was combined with economic incentives (reduced copayments) for five classes of chronic disease medications, patient adherence in four of the drug classes increased by a statistically significant 7 to 13 percent (Figure 2) (Chernew et al. 2008). Follow-up research by these authors using economic modeling indicates that this increase in employee adherence could lead to reductions in the use of other medical services, thus offsetting the costs associated with the additional use of medicines encouraged by the program (Chernew et al. 2010).



Figure 2. Effect from Decreased Copayments on Medication Adherence for Various Therapeutic Classes, 2004–2005

Research has identified a relationship between the level of a patient's out-of-pocket costs and the degree to which they are adherent to their medications. For example, raising copayments and relatively high out-of-pocket costs are associated with decreased, or low medication adherence. Conversely reducing copayments has been shown to improve medication adherence.

The Impact of Patient Access to Medications on Adherence

Healthcare systems may create barriers to medication adherence by limiting access to medications through use of a restrictive formulary (D'Amato 2008). For example, a retrospective cohort study found that in the year after a state implemented a preferred drug list for its Medicaid program, patients with hypertension were 39 percent more likely to stop taking their medications than in the year prior to implementation (Wilson et al. 2005). Further, expanding drug benefit coverage has been shown to improve uptake and use of medications. Studies suggest that drug use increases (up to 20 percent) and adherence improves when patients get drug insurance coverage (Parks Thomas 2008). Moreover, the healthcare system may benefit from cost offsets through reductions in the utilization of non-drug services, such as inpatient hospitalizations and emergency room visits (Parks Thomas 2008).

Source: Chernew et al. Impact of Decreasing Copayments on Medication Adherence within a Disease Management Environment. *Health Affairs.* 2008; 27 (1):103–112.

These outcomes characterize Medicare beneficiaries after the extension of the prescription drug benefit through Part D coverage in 2006. Offering Part D coverage to beneficiaries who previously had lacked comprehensive prescription drug coverage saved Medicare an average of more than \$1,200 per patient per year on non-drug health expenses, such as hospitalizations (McWilliams et al. 2011). Based on this finding, and the fact that 11 million people received drug coverage through Part D, PhRMA estimated that Medicare saved \$13.4 billion in 2007 (PhRMA 2013). While beneficiaries used more medicines after enrolling in Medicare Part D, the cost of greater medication uptake was offset by reductions in other medical spending. Afendulis et al. found that among patients with certain conditions, the boost in drug coverage through Part D was associated with a 4 percent reduction in hospitalization rates, representing 42,000 admissions (Afendulis et al. 2011).

As Medicare patients continue to experience greater financial support through larger discounts garnered while in the "coverage gap" in the coming years, the potential for improved access to medications may allow Medicare to realize savings in medical care. As evidence, a recent study, which assessed the affect of the Affordable Care Act's (ACA) coverage gap reform, found that it has already begun to have a positive impact on medication adherence levels among diabetes patients. Specifically, diabetes patients who had no coverage or partial coverage in the gap before the implementation of the ACA provision were more adherent to their drugs in the first year after implementation compared to the year before implementation (Zeng et al. 2013).

The Complexity of Treatment Regimens

The level of complexity in a patient's drug regimen can also impact the degree to which they will take their medications as prescribed. In a study of cardiovascular disease patients, researchers found that those with more complex therapeutic prescribing requirements had lower medication adherence relative to those who had less therapeutic complexity. In assessing therapeutic complexity, researchers considered factors such as the number of prescriptions filled, the number in different drug classes, the number of different doctors who prescribed the prescriptions and the number of pharmacy visits required to fill the prescription. This study suggests that strategies to reduce the burden of the factors related to the complexity of prescribing and prescription dispensing patterns should be considered by health providers when designing a patient's medication program (Choudry et al. 2011). Another study showed that reducing a patient's dosing frequency and their required number of different medicines, as well as using special packaging, such as blister packages with more than one medicine per blister where appropriate, may be effective for improving adherence (Conn et al. 2009).

Findings on Medicare patients' uptake of medication and resulting adherence levels suggest that interventions to improve health outcomes should focus on behavioral strategies to

raise levels of medication adherence. However, improving a patient's ability to follow a medication regimen requires understanding all potential barriers to adherence in order to target the intervention appropriately. Factors that relate to the patient, their socioeconomic status, the condition being treated, their interactions with their healthcare system and providers and their prescribed therapies, should all be considered when developing effective interventions to improve adherence (Sabate 2003; Zyczynski and Coyne 2000).

Programs and Incentives to Improve Medication Adherence

All stakeholders in the healthcare system should have an active interest in ensuring patients are able to appropriately access and utilize required medications. One researcher suggests that "given the pervasive and morbid effects of medication non-adherence, healthcare professionals, health systems, third-party payers, governmental agencies and policymakers are all stakeholders in promoting greater emphasis on medication adherence" (Lee et al. 2006). The following provides examples from the literature regarding how various stakeholders, including pharmacists, commercial insurers and the Medicare program, have addressed improving medication adherence through certain intervention programs or incentives.

The Pharmacist's Role in Medication Adherence Interventions

Research suggests that targeted and personalized interventions between patients and pharmacists are beneficial. Diabetic patients who had direct interaction through face-to-face meetings with retail pharmacists and phone calls with mail-order pharmacists as part of medication adherence interventions were more adherent to their medications relative to patients who did not receive the direct interaction. Specifically, during the sixmonth program period, patients with direct interaction had 2.1 percent more days' supply per month relative to the comparison group. Patients who were engaged in direct interaction with the pharmacist also had higher initiation rates for recommended concomitant diabetes therapies such as angiotensin receptor blockers and statins (Brennan et al. 2012).

Additional studies have demonstrated the benefit of targeted medication adherence interventions. In a study of patients prescribed cholesterol-lowering therapy, Taitel, et al. found that those who met with pharmacists for counseling at the initiation of their drug regimen showed higher medication adherence and refilled their prescriptions faster over a 12-month period than those who did not participate in the intervention program (Taitel et al. 2012). In a broad systematic review of randomized controlled trials of adherence interventions for patients with cardiovascular disease or diabetes, researchers found that targeted one-on-one interventions in the pharmacy were an effective means for improving adherence (Cutrona et al. 2010).

Pharmacists also play a key role in the delivery of medication therapy management (MTM) programs, which involve enhanced counseling for patients to optimize their therapeutic

outcomes (APhA 2008). Comprehensive medication reviews (CMR) are often a part of the services provided by pharmacists through an MTM program. When conducting a CMR, a patient brings all of the medications they take to the pharmacist for review (including prescription, over the counter and even dietary supplements). As a prime function of the CMR, the pharmacist reviews each individual drug and makes sure the patient is taking them appropriately to avoid adverse reactions and promote optimal outcomes (AMCP 2008). An important element of CMR is the communication of any potential issues or recommended modifications to drug therapy between the pharmacist and the patient's prescriber to ensure coordination of care for the patient (AMCP 2008; APhA 2008).

Recently, a study compared the drug therapy outcomes between Medicare patients diagnosed with chronic heart failure or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease who received MTM services and those who did not. Researchers found that beneficiaries receiving MTM had higher odds of being adherent to their medications compared to the beneficiaries who did not receive MTM. Furthermore, the effect of improved adherence was most significant among the MTM beneficiaries who received a CMR as part of their pharmacy services (Marrufo et al. 2013).

Payers, both in the private and public sectors, are realizing the potential economic and health-related benefits of better medication adherence. Many have implemented programs that incentivize patients to take a more active role in ensuring appropriate use of medications.

Commercial Payer Initiatives

In 2010, UnitedHealthcare announced that it would reduce copayments by \$20 for patients who refilled their asthma and depression medicines on time (UHC 2010). UnitedHealthcare also offers employers a plan option to provide some diabetes medicines and supplies at no charge to patients who take steps to manage their condition and participate in wellness coaching (EON 2009).

Similarly, Aetna and the University of Pennsylvania are collaborating to investigate whether giving patients an opportunity to win cash prizes for appropriate medication use will improve adherence (Belluck 2010). Through this lottery-like program, a patient who opts to use computerized pillboxes is eligible to be compensated randomly either \$10 or \$100 if he or she properly takes his or her medicine. By paying patients a modest incentive to improve adherence up front, the insurer hopes to save the much larger costs of hospitalization in the long term.

Another approach, led by the Center for Connected Health, a division of Partners Healthcare, is to use wireless electronic pill bottles that remind high blood pressure patients to take their medication (Center for Connected Health 2010). Under this initiative, pill bottles are topped with special caps that signal patients with light and sound at the proper

times to take medications. An embedded wireless connection enables the cap to send automated calls to patients to inform them of missed doses and can also provide weekly progress reports and refill reminders. Patients also have the option of sharing adherence data with physicians and a social network. This approach resulted in a 27 percent higher rate of medication adherence compared to controls.

Medicare Star Ratings Adherence Initiatives

To inform Medicare beneficiaries about the quality of Medicare Advantage (MA) plans offered in their local areas, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Service (CMS) awards plans between one and five stars to measure quality (CMS 2012). Plans have good reason to improve their ratings: their payments from Medicare are based in part on their performance on these measures (KFF 2013).

For 2013, the star ratings program uses 55 quality measures from various data sources such as the Healthcare Effectiveness Data Information Set (HEDIS), the Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (CAHPS) surveys, and the Patient Outcomes Survey (POS). CMS assigns final ratings to plans based upon a calculation of measures across various indices related to patient outcomes, patient experience, process and access issues (CMS 2012).

Three separate MA star ratings measures assess MA plans on the medication adherence levels of their members with diabetes, high blood pressure and high cholesterol. In determining a plan's overall Part D rating, CMS weights these medication adherence measures three times more than other categories, such as process-related measures (CMS 2012). This weighting suggests the government values medication adherence as an essential part of managing the health of beneficiaries diagnosed with these chronic conditions.

Since CMS added the medication adherence measures to the MA star ratings in 2011, there has been a greater awareness among plans of the opportunities for improving adherence, (Benner 2012) which may translate to an improved star rating.

Conclusion

Prescription drugs, when used appropriately, are often the most cost-effective component of the healthcare delivery system. Yet while the clinical and economic benefits to patients from the proper use of prescribed medications are well known, ensuring appropriate medication adherence continues to be difficult within the U.S. healthcare system. Particularly among Medicare patients and individuals with chronic conditions, encouraging the proper use of medicines presents significant challenges.

Innovative strategies by payers, physicians, pharmacists and others suggest there are opportunities to incentivize and encourage patients to remain more adherent to prescribed drug regimens. Specific strategies may include lowering copayments, reducing dosing frequency and pharmacist-directed medication therapy management.

To improve health outcomes and save money, those who influence healthcare policy and practice should support measures that encourage greater engagement and education with patients to demonstrate the importance of proper medication use.

Bibliography

Academy of Managed Care Pharmacy (AMCP). "Sound Medication Therapy Management Programs." Version 2.0. 2008. www.amcp.org/sound_mtm_program (accessed April 27, 2013).

Afendulis, Christopher C., Yulei He, Alan M. Zaslavsky, and Michael E. Chernew. "The Impact of Medicare Part D on Hospitalization Rates." *Health Services Research* 46 (2011): 1022-1038.

American Pharmacists Association (APhA) and National Association of Chain Drug Stores (NACDS) Foundation. Medication Therapy Management in Pharmacy Practice: Core Elements of an MTM Service Model. Version 2.0. 2008. www.accp.com/docs/positions/misc/coreelements.pdf (accessed March 15, 2013).

American Pharmacists Association (APhA). Enhancing Patient Adherence: Proceedings of the Pinnacle Roundtable Discussion. *Highlights News Letter*. October 7, 2004.

American Pharmacists Association (APhA). Pharmacists and the Health Care Puzzle: Improving Medication Use and Reducing Health Care Costs. Washington, DC, 2008. www.chronicdisease.org/resource/resmgr/cvh/pharm_&_hc_puzzle.pdf (accessed May 4, 2012).

Balkrishnan, Rajesh, Rukmini Rajagopalan, Fabian T. Camacho, Sally A. Huston, Frederick T. Murray, and Roger T. Anderson. "Predictors of Medication Adherence and Associated Health Care Costs in an Older Population with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A Longitudinal Cohort Study." *Clinical Therapeutics* 25 (2003): 2958-2971.

Belluck, Pam. "For Forgetful, Cash Helps the Medicine Go Down." The New York Times, June 13, 2010, Health section.

Benner, Josh. "Underuse of Prescription Medications and What It'll Take to Fix It." Rx Ante Presentation.November 29, 2012 http://rxante.com/objects/pdfs/Benner_NCHC_Adherence_Nov_2012.pdf (accessed on March 15, 2013).

Brennan, Troyen A., Timothy J. Dollear, Min Hu, Olga S. Matlin, William H. Shrank, Niteesh K. Choudhry, and William Grambley. "An Integrated Pharmacy-Based Program Improved Medication Prescription Adherence Rates in Diabetes Patients." *Health Affairs* 31(2012):120-129.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. "Chronic Diseases and Health Promotion." http://www.cdc.gov/chronicdisease/overview/index.htm (accessed May 4, 2012).

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion. The Power of Prevention: Reducing the Health and Economic Burden of Chronic Disease. Atlanta, GA, April 2003.

Center for Connected Health. "Wireless Medication Adherence Study Conducted at the Partners Center for Connected Health Shows Promising Initial Findings." June 23, 2010. http://www.connected-health.org/media-center/press-releases/wireless-medicationadherence-study-conducted-at-the-partners-center-for-connected-health-shows-promising-initial-findings.aspx (accessed May 4, 2012).

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Choose Higher Quality for Better Health Care. October 2012. http://www.medicare.gov/Publications/Pubs/pdf/11226.pdf (accessed April 27 2013).

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Medicare Health and Drug Plan Quality and Performance Ratings 2013 Part C and Part D Technical Notes. October 10, 2012.

Chandra, Amitabah, Jonathan Gruber, and Robin McKnight. "Patient Cost-Sharing and Hospitalization Offsets in the Elderly." American Economic Review 100 (2010): 193-213.

Chang, Andrew, Joshua N. Liberman, Charmaine Coulen, Jan E. Berger, and Troyen A. Brennan. "Value-Based Insurance Design and Antidiabetic Medication Adherence." *American Journal of Pharmacy Benefits* (2010) 2: 39-44.

Chernew, Michael E., Iver A. Juster, Mayur R. Shah, Arnold Wegh, Stephen N. Rosenberg Allison B. Rosen, Michael C. Sokol, Kristina Yu-Isenberg, and A. Mark Fendrick. "Evidence that Value-Based Insurance Can Be Effective." *Health Affairs*. 29 (2010): 530-6.

Chernew, Michael E., Mayur R. Shah, Arnold Wegh, Stephen N. Rosenberg, Iver A. Juster, Allison B. Rosen, Michael C. Sokol, Kristina Yu-Isenberg, and A. Mark Fendrick. "Impact of Decreasing Copayments on Medication Adherence within a Disease Management Environment." *Health Affairs* 27 (2008): 103–112.

Choudry, Niteesh K., Michael A. Fischer, Jerry Avorn, Joshua N. Liberman, Sebastian Schneeweiss, Juliana Pakes, Troyen A. Brennan, and William H. Shrank. "The Implications of Therapeutic Complexity on Adherence to Cardiovascular Medications. Archives of Internal Medicine." 171 (2011):814-822.

Congressional Budget Office (CBO). Offsetting Effects of Prescription Drug Use on Medicare's Spending for Medical Services. November 2012. http://www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/cbofiles/attachments/43741-MedicalOffsets-11-29-12.pdf (accessed December 28, 2012).

Conn, Vicki S., Adam R. Hafdahl, Pamela S. Cooper, Todd M. Ruppar, David R. Mehr, and Cynthia L. Russell. "Interventions to Improve Medication Adherence Among Older Adults: Meta-Analysis of Adherence Outcomes Among Randomized Controlled Trials." *The Gerontologist* 49 (2009): 447-462.

Cutler, David M., Genia Long, Ernst R. Berndt, Jimmy Royer, Andree-Anne Fournier, Alicia Sasser, and Pierre Cremieux. "The Value of Antihypertensive Drugs: A Perspective on Medical Innovation." *Health Affairs* 26 (2007): 97.

Cutrona, Sarah L., Niteesh K. Choudhry, Michael A. Fischer, Amber Servi, Joshua N. Liberman, Troyen A. Brennan, and William H. Shrank. "Modes of Delivery for Interventions to Improve Cardiovascular Medication Adherence." *The American Journal of Managed Care* 16 (2010): 929-942.

D'Amato, Steve. "Improving Patient Adherence with Oral Chemotherapy." *Oncology Issues* July/August (2008): 42-45. Delamater, Alan M. "Improving Patient Adherence." *Clinical Diabetes* 24 (2006): 71–77.

Department of Health and Human Services, Administration on Aging (HHS, AOA). "Aging Statistics." http://www.aoa.gov/Aging Statistics/ (accessed April 27, 2013).

Enhanced Online News (EON). "UnitedHealthcare Launches First Diabetes Plan with Incentives for Preventive Care." January 15, 2009. http://eon.businesswire.com/news/eon/20090115005315/en (accessed April 27, 2013).

Esposito, Dominick, Ann D. Bagchi, James M. Verdier, Deo S. Bencio, and Myoung S. Kim. "Medicaid Beneficiaries With Congestive Heart Failure: Association of Medication Adherence with Healthcare Use and Costs." *American Journal of Managed Care* 15 (2009): 437-45.

Express Scripts. 2011 Drug Trend Report. St. Louis, MO, April 2012.

Gaynor, Martin, Jian Li, and William B. Vogt. "Substitution, Spending Offsets, and Prescription Drug Benefit Design." Forum for Health Economics & Policy 10 (2007): 1-31.

Goldman, Dana P., Geoffrey F. Joyce, and Yuhui Zheng. "Prescription Drug Cost Sharing: Associations with Medication and Medical Utilization and Spending and Health." *Journal of the American Medical Association* (2007) 298: 61-69.

Goldman, Dana P., Geoffrey F. Joyce, Jose J. Escarce, Jennifer E. Pace, Matthew D. Solomon, Marianne Laouri, Pamela B. Landsman, and Steven Teutsch. "Pharmacy Benefits and the Use of Drugs by the Chronically III." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 291 (2004): 2344-50.

Gwadry-Sridhar, Fernida H., Elizabeth Manias, Ying Zhang, Anuja Roy, Kristina Yu-Isenberg, Dyfrig A. Hughes, and Michael B. Nichol. "A Framework for Planning and Critiquing Medication Compliance and Persistence Using Prospective Study Designs." *Clinical Therapeutics* 31 (2009): 421-435.

The Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF). "Medicare Advantage Fact Sheet." November 30, 2012. http://kff.org/medicare/fact-sheet/ (accessed April 27, 2013).

Ho, P. Michael, David J. Magid, Frederick A. Masoudi, David L. McClure, and John S. Rumsfeld. "Adherence to Cardioprotective Medications and Mortality among Patients with Diabetes and Ischemic Heart Disease." *BMC Cardiovascular Disorders* 6 (2006).

Hsu, John, Mary Price, Jie Huang, Richard Brand, Vicki Fung, Rita Hui, Bruce Fireman, Joseph P. Newhouse, and Joseph V. Selby. "Unintended Consequences of Caps on Medicare Drug Benefits." *New England Journal of Medicine* 354 (2006): 2349-2359.

Jha, Ashish K., Ronald E. Aubert, Jianying Yao, Russell Teagarden, and Robert S. Epstein. "Greater Adherence to Diabetes Drugs Is Linked to Less Hospital Use And Could Save Nearly \$5 Billion Annually." *Health Affairs* 31 (2012):1836-1846.

Lee, Jeannie K., Karen A. Grace, and Allen J. Taylor. "Effect of a Pharmacy Care Program on Medication Adherence and Persistence, Blood Pressure, and Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 296 (2006): 2563–2571.

Marrufo, Grecia, Anjali Dixit, Daniella Perlroth, Alejandro Montesinos, Emil Rusev, and Michael Packard. Medication Therapy Management in a Chronically III Population: Interim Report. Acumen, LLC, January 2013.

McWilliams, J. Michael, Alan M. Zaslavsky, and Haiden A. Huskamp. "Implementation of Medicare Part D and Nondrug Medical Spending for Elderly Adults With Limited Prior Drug Coverage." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 306 (2011):403-409. Meichenbaum, Donald and Dennis C. Turk. Facilitating Treatment Adherence: A Practitioner's Guidebook. New York, NY: Plenum Press; 1987.

New England Health Institute (NEHI). Thinking Outside the Pillbox: A System-wide Approach to Improving Patient Medication Adherence for Chronic Disease. Cambridge, MA, 2009.

Osterberg, Lars and Terrence Blaschke. "Drug Therapy: Adherence to Medication." *New England Journal of Medicine* 353 (2005): 487-97. Parks Thomas, Cindy. How Prescription Drug Use Affects Healthcare Utilization and Spending by Older Americans: A Review of the

Literature. AARP Public Policy Institute. April 2008 http://assets.aarp.org/rgcenter/health/2008_04_rx.pdf (accessed May 4, 2012).

Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA). "Adherence: Key Information on Managing and Treating Disease." http://phr-dev.wcgwork.com/issues/adherence (accessed May 15, 2013).

Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA). "Medicare Part D: A Success Story," http://www.phrma.org/issues/medicare (accessed May 16, 2013).

Pittman, Donald G., William Chen, Steven J. Bowlin, and JoAnne M. Foody. "Adherence to Statins, Subsequent Healthcare Costs, and Cardiovascular Hospitalizations." *American Journal of Cardiology* 107 (2011): 1662-1666.

Qato, Dima M., G. Caleb Alexander, Rena M. Conti, Michael Johnson, Phil Schumm, Stacy Tessler Lindau. "Use of Prescription and Over the Counter Medications and Dietary Supplements Among Older Adults in the United States." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 300 (2008): 2867-2878.

Roebuck, M. Christopher, Joshua N. Liberman, Marin Gemmill-Toyama and Troyen A. Brennan. "Medication Adherence Leads to Lower Health Care Use and Costs Despite Increased Drug Spending." *Health Affairs* 30 (2011): 91-99.

Sabate, Eduardo., ed., Adherence to Long-Term Therapies: Evidence for Action. World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland. 2003.

Sansone, Randy A. and Lori A. Sansone. "Antidepressant Adherence: Are Patients Taking their Medications?" Innovations in Clinical Neuroscience 9(2012): 41-46.

Sokol, Michael C., Kimberly A. McGuigan, Robert R. Verbrugge, and Robert S. Epstein. "Impact of Medication Adherence on Hospitalization Risk and Healthcare Cost." *Medical Care* 43 (2005): 521-530.

Streeter, Sonya Blesser, Lee Schwartzberg, Nadia Husain, and Michael Johnsrud. "Patient and Plan Characteristics Affecting Abandonment of Oral Oncolytic Prescriptions." *Journal of Oncology Practice* 7 (2011):48s-51s.

Stuart, Bruce C., Amy Davidoff, Ruth Lopert, Thomas Shaffer, J. Samantha Shoemaker, and Jennifer Lloyd. "Does Medication Adherence Lower Medicare Spending among Beneficiaries with Diabetes?" *Health Services Research* 46 (2011): 1180-1199.

Stuart, Bruce C., Jalpa A. Doshi, Joseph V. Terza. "Assessing the Impact of Drug Use on Hospital Costs." *Health Services Research* (2009) 44: 128-144.

Taitel, Michael, Jenny Jiang, Kristi Rudkin, Susan Ewing, and Ian Duncan. "The Impact of Pharmacist Face to Face Counseling to Improve Medication Adherence Among Patients Initiating Statin Therapy." Patient Preference and Adherence 6 (2012): 323-329.

Wilson, Jerome, Kristen Axelsen, and Simon Tang. "Medicaid Prescription Drug Access Restrictions: Exploring the Effect on Patient Persistence with Hypertension Medications." *American Journal of Managed Care* (11) 2005: SP27-SP34.

UnitedHealthcare. "'Refill and Save Program' Rewards Prescription Drug Compliance with Discounts on Select Medications." February 1, 2010 http://www.reuters.com/article/2010/02/01/idUS135238+01-Feb-2010+BW20100201 (accessed May 4, 2012).

Wu, Shin-Yi and A. Green. Projection of Chronic Illness Prevalence and Cost Inflation. RAND Corporation, October 2000.

Zeng, Feng, Bimal Patel and Louis Brunetti. "Effects of Coverage Gap Reform on Adherence to Diabetes Medications." American Journal of Managed Care 19 (2013): 308-316.

Zyczynski, Teresa M. and Karin S. Coyne. "Hypertension and Current Issues in Compliance and Patient Outcomes." *Current Hypertension Reports* 2 (2000): 510-514.



Avalere Health LLC 1350 Connecticut Ave. NW Suite 900 Washington, DC 20036

www.avalerehealth.net

